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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF OREGON

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,
V.

JOSEPH DIBEE, aka “Seattle,”
CHELSEA DAWN GERLACH, aka
“Country Girl,”
KENDALL TANKERSLEY, aka
“Sarah Kendall Harvey,”
DANIEL GERARD MCGOWAN, aka
“Sorrell”, and “Jamie,”
STANISLAS GREGORY MEYERHOFF,
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JOSEPHINE OVERAKER,
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The United States of America, by Karin J. Immergut, United States Attorney for the
District of Oregon, and Kirk A. Engdall, Stephen F. Peifer, and John C. Ray, Assistant United
States Attorneys, hereby submits the following sentencing memorandum in the above-entitled
cases.

I. INTRODUCTION

A. Status of Case

All of the above-named defendants have been charged in a superseding indictment by a
federal grand jury. On July 20 and 21, 2006, defendants Chelsea Dawn Gerlach, Kendall
Tankersley, Stanislas Gregory Meyerhoff, Suzanne Savoie and Kevin Tubbs each entered pleas
of guilty to separate informations charging them with conspiracy, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 8§
371, and multiple counts of arson, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 844(f) and (i). Defendants
Meyerhoff, Gerlach and Tubbs also pleaded guilty to destruction of an energy facility in
violation of 18 U.S.C. 1366(a).! Additionally, defendant Darren Todd Thurston pleaded guilty to
conspiracy, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371.% Sentencing has been set in May 2007 for each of
these defendants.

On October 9, 2006, defendants Daniel Gerard McGowan, Jonathan Mark Christopher
Paul, Joyanna L. Zacher and Nathan Fraser Block entered pleas of guilty to conspiracy, in

violation of 18 U.S.C. 8 371, and multiple counts of arson (except Paul, who pleaded guilty to

! On December 14, 2006, Gerlach and Meyerhoff also entered pleas of guilty to eight
counts of arson in an indictment which had been transferred to Oregon from the District of
Colorado.

2 On January 8, 2007, Thurston also pleaded guilty to conspiracy and arson in an
indictment which had been transferred to Oregon from the Eastern District of California.
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only one count), in violation of 18 U.S.C. 8 844(i). Sentencing for these defendants has been set
in June 2007.
B. Format

This case involved a wide-ranging conspiracy over an extended period of time with
numerous and different participants at various times. The nature of the conspiracy, the overt acts
committed in furtherance of same, and the co-conspirators are best understood if discussed in a
comprehensive fashion, as opposed to piecemeal with respect to each defendant. Because of
this, the United States is submitting this single sentencing memorandum, with individual sections
for each defendant.

Il. STATEMENT OF FACTS
A Background

Between December 25, 1995, and October 15, 2001, at least 20 different arsons and
attempted arsons and the destruction of a BPA high voltage tower occurred in five western
states, causing property damage in excess of $40 million. Despite extensive multi-agency
investigative efforts, these crimes remained unsolved until the government was able to secure a
cooperating witness who knew about and indeed was a participant himself in many of the events.
The identity of this individual has now been released. He is Jacob Jeremiah Ferguson, 34.

Once Ferguson began cooperating, the government used him pro-actively to gain
corroboration of his statements regarding each of the events. Specifically, he was asked to wear
a “body wire” and to seek out and engage other known participants in the events in an attempt to
secure recorded statements from them with respect to their participation. Different meetings

were arranged, at different times, with Kevin Tubbs, Stanislas Meyerhoff, Kendall Tankersley,
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William C. Rodgers (now deceased), Daniel McGowan, Jonathan Paul, Darren Thurston and
Chelsea Gerlach. As a result, recorded incriminating statements were obtained from many of
these individuals, which led to their arrests and indictment. These initial arrests occurred in
early December 2005 and led, in turn, to further cooperating witnesses and later arrests.

Information from the cooperating witnesses not only identified the perpetrators of all the
above arsons and attempted arsons and the destruction of a BPA high voltage tower, but also
disclosed the existence of a group of persons calling themselves “the Family,” acting loosely
under the mantles of the “Animal Liberation Front” and the “Earth Liberation Front”
(ALF/ELF). In so doing, they conspired with each other to influence the conduct of government,
business and private citizens by means of violence, sabotage, widespread destruction, and
intimidation. It was also learned that these individuals took elaborate steps to avoid discovery of
their criminal acts, which they termed “actions.” These steps included careful planning, wearing
gloves, masks and dark clothing to disguise their appearance during the perpetration of their
crimes, using “clean rooms” while constructing incendiary devices, concealing or destroying
evidence, using code words and numbers, code names and nicknames when communicating
among themselves, producing or obtaining false identification documents to conceal their true
identities, fleeing to foreign countries to avoid detection and arrest, and maintaining an intricate
web of secrecy and security within their own ranks, even to the point of not discussing events
with each other.

The so-called “Book Club” is an example of the elaborate means they took to avoid
detection. Nine of the co-conspirators attended a series of five Book Club meetings held in four

different states in which they received instruction about numerous subjects which would assist
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them in their underground criminal enterprise. These meetings were held in Eugene, Tucson,
Santa Cruz, Olympia, and Sisters. Examples of classes being taught included lock picking,
reconnaissance of targets, computer security, encrypted messaging, and manufacture of
mechanical and electrical timing devices used to initiate incendiary devices.

The participants kept these meetings secret by holding them in different states and using
a code system to communicate among themselves outside the meetings. They shared e-mail
addresses in which members wrote draft messages and never sent them, but shared them in the
draft file. People were expected to check this e-mail site frequently, and the messages were
supposed to be deleted after a week. This coding system started with using a series of numbers
and a chosen book (hence the name, the “Book Club”) to code and decode the messages, and
progressed into using PGP encryption software to keep their messages confidential.

While at each of the meetings, the attendees were expected to explain how they arrived,
what countermeasures they used to avoid detection, and what alibi and alias they were using as
cover for the meeting. This extraordinary “wall of silence” is what kept their identity from being
discovered by law enforcement for such a long time.

Ultimately, this “wall” crumbled. One by one the perpetrators, faced with the prospect of
lengthy prison sentences, began to tell of their and others’ involvement in the numerous acts of

arson and destruction, more specifically described below.
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B. Criminal Acts

1. Dutch Girl Dairy arson, Eugene, Oregon, December 25, 1995

Participant:

Kevin Tubbs

During the night of December 24, 1995, Kevin Tubbs assembled three incendiary devices
and walked to the Dutch Girl Dairy, located at 885 Grant Street, Eugene, Oregon, to start a fire.
The incendiary devices were two one-liter plastic bottles filled with a flammable liquid and a
timing device, consisting of paper matches wrapped around an incense stick which was placed
into a fuel-soaked kitchen sponge. When Tubbs arrived at the location, he climbed a chain link
fence, which had the barbed wire cut, and made entry into the site. Tubbs placed one device on
each of three trucks and ignited them. Prior to igniting the incendiary devices, Tubbs spray-
painted “A.L.F.,” “Go Vegan” and “Dairy = Death” on other trucks. Tubbs left the facility and
returned to his residence.

On December 25, 1995, at approximately 4:09 a.m., security guard Matthew Rhodes
discovered the fire in one of the trucks and tried to extinguish it. After emptying three fire
extinguishers, Rhodes was able to put the fire out. The Eugene Fire Department arrived and

extinguished another truck which was on fire. The third incendiary device was discovered in the
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wheel well of a third truck (see above photo). The device had failed to function. The Eugene
Police Bomb Squad responded to the scene and rendered the incendiary device safe. The two
other incendiary devices had ignited and caused over $15,000 damage to the two trucks.

2. Detroit Ranger Station arson and attempted arson, Detroit, Oregon, October 28, 1996

Participants:

Jacob Ferguson

Josephine Overaker

In the early morning hours of October 28, 1996, Phillip Ray Adams, a paper carrier with
The Statesman Journal, was delivering papers on his route when he observed a U.S. Forest
Service (USFS) truck on fire in the parking lot of the Detroit Ranger Station. Subsequent
investigation determined this to be an arson fire. Graffiti, including the words, “Earth Liberation

Front,” were spray-painted on several trucks and some of the walls of one of the USFS
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buildings.® The damage to the trucks and the buildings was approximately $21,500. Two days
later, a second incendiary device was found on the roof of one of the office buildings at the
Detroit Ranger Station. That device had failed to function.

Jacob Ferguson and Josephine Overaker were responsible for the arson and attempted
arson at the Detroit Ranger Station. Approximately 10 days prior to the arson, Ferguson and
Overaker traveled to “Anpo,” a special use permit area in the Mount Hood National Forest
where environmental protesters were residing. On the way their vehicle broke down near
Detroit, where Overaker made several phone calls from a pay telephone booth, in which she left
an address book and some papers. These were subsequently discovered and turned over to law
enforcement. With the help of toll records, investigators verified phone calls made to locations
in Eugene where Overaker resided and to an auto parts store in search of a part for the disabled
vehicle. Because their vehicle could not be repaired at the time, Ferguson and Overaker
obtained a ride from Detroit to Anpo.

After spending some time at Anpo, Ferguson and Overaker made two incendiary devices
which they planned to use to set fire to the Detroit Ranger Station in Detroit, Oregon. They
placed the devices in backpacks, and then got a ride with Elisha Dimatteo to Detroit. Ferguson
and Overaker asked Dimatteo to stop at a state park across the street from the Detroit Ranger
Station. Ferguson and Overaker transported the incendiary devices in their backpacks while
Dimatteo waited for them in the car. Overaker helped Ferguson onto the roof of one of the
buildings of the ranger station and handed him one of the devices, which he placed on the roof.

Overaker lit the incense sticks and handed them to Ferguson, who placed them on the device on

% This was the first time an arson in the United States was attributed to ELF.
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the roof. Ferguson and Overaker placed the other device in the back of one of the USFS pickup
trucks. They also spray-painted the graffiti on the trucks and walls of the building. In addition
to “Earth Liberation Front” and the anarchist “A,” the graffitti read, “STOP RAPING OUR
FORESTS U.S.F.S.” They then ran back to the car but did not tell Dimatteo what they had done.
Dimatteo then drove them to Eugene.

3. Oakridge Ranger Station arson, Oakridge, Oregon, October 30, 1996

Participants:

Jacob Ferguson
Kevin Tubbs

Josephine Overaker

In the early morning hours of
October 30, 1996, Russell Toney, a newspaper carrier, was making deliveries on his route when
he observed a glow of fire and smoke emanating from the Oakridge Ranger Station. He reported
the fire by calling 911 on his cell phone. Investigation determined it to be an arson fire, caused
by the introduction of gasoline which was subsequently ignited near the ranger station’s
computer room. Damage was estimated to be $3,316,150 to replace the building, and
$1,758,039 for the contents, for a total loss of $5,074,189, in addition to a vast amount of lost

research material.

Page 9 - Government’s Sentencing Memorandum






